The Study of the Communication Patterns of Boston-Cambridge Regional Biotech Firms to Universities

by Nada Hashmi

M.S. Computer Science (2004) University of Maryland, College Park

Submitted to the System Design and Management Program in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science in Engineering and Management

at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology

> بجريب الأحلي أجابي المرتبان August 2008

© 2008 Nada Hashmi, All rights reserved

The author hereby grants to MIT permission to reproduce and distribute publicly paper and electronic copies of this thesis document in whose or in part.

Signature of Author

Nada Hashmi System Design and Management Program

Certified by

Thomas Allen Thesis Supervisor Margaret MacVicar Faculty Fellow Howard W. Johnson Professor of Management Professor of Engineering Systems

) ለ

Certified by

Patrick Hale Director System Design and Management Program

Page 1

ARCHIVES

MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY

SEP 2 3 2009

LIBRARIES

The Study of the Communication Patterns of Boston-Cambridge Regional Biotech Firms to Universities

by

Nada Hashmi

M.S. Computer Science (2004) University of Maryland, College Park Submitted to the System Design and Management Program in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science in Engineering and Management

Abstract

This paper analyzes data from a study which focused on understanding the informal scientific communication network among Biotechnology firms in the Boston-Cambridge Biotech area. A previous study (Allen, et. al., 2009) provided an overview of the network, how the firms were connected to one another and the frequency of the communications. The analysis for this study focuses on the firms and their communication patterns to the universities – to better understand the potentially continuing role of the universities. The goal of the study is to analyze the factors that influenced communication patterns. The following factors were studied: size, age, type of firm and degrees of centrality. In conclusion, the study finds the universities are tightly integrated into the biotech network. Some firms chose to communicate only with the universities. In addition, we find size and age to have the greatest influence on this. Finally, degrees of centrality also play a significant role in the tendency of research scientists within firms to communicate with universities.

Thesis Supervisor: Thomas Allen Title: Margaret MacVicar Faculty Fellow Howard W. Johnson Professor of Management Emeritus Professor of Engineering Systems Emeritus

Acknowledgements

It is a pleasure to thank the many people who made this thesis possible.

It is difficult to overstate my gratitude to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Thomas Allen. Throughout my research time, he provided encouragement, sound advice, good teaching, good company, and lots of good ideas. I am truly in-depth to him!

I would like to thank Peter Gloor for helping me to understand the data and the previous study. Without his help, the data would have meant gibberish to me. I would like to thank Joanne McHugh for her continuous support with the administrative tasks. She is truly an invaluable source. I would like to thank Ornit Raz for allowing me to use the data from her study. In addition, I would like to thank Pat Hale for his support for my work and helping to make my experience at SDM a very pleasant and enjoyable one.

I would like to express my deep appreciation to all of my sisters for their support, encouragement and love. Lastly, and most importantly, I wish to thank my parents, Dr. Nasim Hashmi and Aisha Hashmi. It is their upbringing and continuous support that has helped me to reach this far.

Table of Contents

Abstract2
Acknowledgements
Table of Figures
Table of Tables
Chapter 1: Introduction
Chapter 2: The Previous Study: 10
Research Method10
The Results from the Previous Work13
Chapter 3: Our Study:
The Data17
Analysis Method:
Hypotheses:
Results:
H1. Firms inside the cluster will communicate more to the universities in comparison to the firms outside the cluster
H2: Younger firms will communicate more to universities in comparison to older firms
H3: Smaller firms communicate more to universities in comparison to larger sized firms
H4: Firms with greater degrees of centrality communicate more to the universities 30
Chapter 4: Discussion 32
Chapter 5: Conclusion
References

Table of Figures

FIGURE 1: BIOTECH CLUSTER IN GREATER KENDALL SQUARE AREA (SOURCE MIT ENTREPRENEURSHIP CENTER)	11
FIGURE 2: THE SUPER CLUSTER WITHIN THE BIOTECH CLUSTER	13
FIGURE 3: A CLOSER VIEW OF THE SUPER CLUSTER AND ITS KEY PLAYERS	14
FIGURE 4: DISTANCE AS A FUNCTION OF COMMUNICATION OF FIRMS	15
FIGURE 1: NUMBER OF CONNECTIONS TO OTHER ORGANIZATIONS BY TYPE OF ORGANIZATION	20
FIGURE 2 MEAN CENTRALITY OF ORGANIZATIONS IN THE EXPERIMENTAL AND CONTROL GROUPS	21
FIGURE 3 MEAN LEVEL OF COMMUNICATION	21
FIGURE 4: COMMUNICATION PER SCIENTIST TO UNIVERSITIES AS A FUNCTION OF ORGANIZATIONAL AGE	24
FIGURE 5: AGE AS A FUNCTION OF COMMUNICATION PER SCIENTIST TO NON-UNIVERSITIES	25
FIGURE 6: EQUAL NUMBER OF FIRMS IN EACH CATEGORY OF 'SIZE' ERROR! BOOKMARK	NOT DEFINED.
FIGURE 7: SIZE AS A FUNCTION OF COMMUNICATION PER SCIENTISTS	28
FIGURE 8 DEGREE OF CENTRALITY AS A FUNCTION OF COMMUNICATION PER SCIENTISTS TO UNIVERSITIES	30

Table of Tables

TABLE 1: DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS FOR COMMUNICATIONS INSIDE AND OUTSIDE THE CLUSTER	22
TABLE 2: ANOVA TEST FOR COMPARISON OF THE MEANS	23
TABLE 3: CORRELATIONS MATRIX OF AGE AGAINST COMMUNICATIONS PER SCIENTISTS TO UNIVERSITIES	25
TABLE 4 CORRELATION MATRIX OF AGE AS A FUNCTION OF COMMUNICATION PER SCIENTIST TO ALL NON-UNIVERSITIES.	26
TABLE 5: SPEARMAN CORRELATION OF SIZE AS A FUNCTION OF COMMUNICATION PER SCIENTIST	29
TABLE 6 SPEARMAN'S CORRELATION OF DEGREE OF CENTRALITY AS A FUNCTION OF COMMUNICATION PER SCIENTIST	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Entrepreneurs, small to medium businesses, and even large established firms, invest a considerable amount of thought into where they locate in order to maximize and benefit from the environment around them. There is no doubt, however, as to the benefits of the 'geographic clustering' of firms in a similar industry – the exchange and development of new ideas and innovations, attraction of scientific talent to that particular region, other businesses in the supply chain relocating to the region with confidence, a multiplicity of new venture firms is likely to attract venture capital into region, etc. Therefore, is it enough to physically move into the area and expect to reap the benefits?

Researchers as early as the 1800s, through the work of Alfred Marshall's *Principles of Economics* (1890/1920), noted the tendency of firms in similar industries to co-locate and built theories upon that. Paul Krugman (1991), AnnaLee Saxenian (1994), and Michael Porter (1998a, 1998b, 2000) all analyzed clusters and various ways the firms were 'connected' to the clusters. Patenting, Co-authorship, formal collaborative efforts were just some of the methods to quantitatively analyze and measure the connectivity of a firm to the cluster. Saxenian also has emphasized the role universities in particular play on the development and growth of a cluster and high connectivity attributes to success of the cluster and the firms. The most notable clusters with the university presence include the Silicon Valley, Route 128 in Massachusetts, and the Boston-Cambridge Biotech Cluster (also in Massachusetts).

Our study focuses on the Boson-Cambridge Biotech cluster and connectivity of the universities to this cluster. According to the data from the Massachusetts Biotechnology Council, the Massachusetts Biotech cluster accounts for nearly 20 percent of the biotechnology companies in the USA; that is, over 280 companies. In addition, they employ close to 30,000 people. There are an additional 220 medical device companies which employee 25,000 people. This highly technical and intense region also houses an unusually high number of world class universities and institutes; including MIT, Harvard, The Broad Institute, Massachusetts General Hospital, Brigham and Women's Hospital and many others. This region receives nearly 10% of all of total NIH national funding.

Nelsen attributed much of the success of the Boston-Cambridge Biotech Cluster to the key role MIT played as well as government funding to the key institutes that in turn brought innovation to the region (Nelsen 2005). In particular, she noted, MIT helped foster a culture that supplied to the region highly talented human capital, research that enables knowledge transfer, and MIT's highly entrepreneurial

environment that helped its students to start their own companies. The entrepreneurial activities of MIT are notable in all aspects of the Massachusetts economy and not limited to just the Biotech cluster. A study by BankBoston in 1997 regarding the influence of MIT on the Massachusetts economy showed that 42% of the companies formed by MIT alumni are in Massachusetts alone – positively impacting the economy.

MIT's highly entrepreneurial environment comes as no surprise. MIT has worked hard to sustain an innovative and creative environment and attracts/accepts those students that come in with the necessary skills to take risks. In addition to its selective admissions process, in particular for undergraduate students, it aims at accepting those students who demonstrate excellent leadership qualities in addition to high grades. It introduces to the students through classes and events successful entrepreneurs and role models to follow. Competitions such as the one granting \$100K for the best business plan further provide students the opportunity to flex their abilities as entrepreneurs.

In addition, MIT sustains strong ties with local industry. Formally, MIT sustains ties with the industry through research grants given to groups and departments at MIT. Furthermore, degree programs such as the Systems Design and Management Program allow professionals to work part-time and study part-time. Companies in Silicon Valley also boast of strong ties with the local universities while the local universities, such as Stanford, proudly stake claim to their integral role in successful development of the Silicon Valley. Researchers have spent considerable time in proving how formal relations have gone a long way in the strong relations between Stanford and the Silicon Valley. Some of these relations include an Honors Cooperative Program, a part-time degree program for engineers at nearby companies that offers the same classes and faculty that full-time on-campus students get. A Stanford Research Park, one of the world's first industrial parks, established in 1951 was another formal method to attract and establish links with industry. The industry on the other hand has seeped into the university through professorial endowments (Yahoo! Professorship), classrooms (Mitsubishi and Toshiba classrooms) and buildings (William Gates Computer Science Building).

These formal relationships between Universities and Industries are important, but there is more to it than that. An economist at the University of California at Berkeley, Anna Lee Saxenian, stated it best: "Stanford is part of the broader Silicon Valley culture. Much of what goes on between the university and industry has to do with people starting out as faculty or students. They keep in touch. People go back and forth from academia to industry. Much of this is informal."

It is this informal relation that our study aims to explore. Raz and Gloor noted in their study on startup companies in Israel, the companies with larger informal networks had survived the dotcom crash (Raz, Gloor 2007). Therefore, it is not enough to simply move to a cluster and sustain formal collaborations – a social informal network of communication is important and integral for survival. The communication network, whether through formal or informal channels, between industry and the university highlights the tightly or loosely knit integration of the cluster. Our study takes data from a comprehensive study of the Boston-Cambridge Biotech Communication network and zeroes in on the interaction of the Boston universities with the Biotech firms. We investigate the communication of firms with the Boston universities. In particular, we look at the following variables: physical distance from each university, size of the firm and the age of the firm. The thesis is organized as follows: the first section provides the details of the previous study – how the data were collected, what data were collected and what results were deduced. Then the next section extracts from the data set and investigates the role of universities against the variables discussed. The third section analyzes the results. In the final section, we conclude and offer suggestions for further research on this topic.

Chapter 2: The Previous Study:

In 2005, Dr. Thomas Allen and Dr. Ornit Raz began the study with a chosen target of the biotechnology cluster that developed within the Boston/ Cambridge region in Massachusetts (Figure 1). This 'cluster' of mostly newly-formed biotechnology firms has developed over the past 20 to 30 years and continues to grow. Depending on one's definition of what a biotech firm is, the number can range from 80 to over 200 firms. The Massachusetts Biotechnology Council, an industry trade association lists over 500 companies as members. Allen and Raz restricted the selection on the basis of location and the nature of the firm's principal activity to end up with just over 100 companies. From this select group of 100 companies, data was received from 40 companies. In each of the cooperating companies, a random listing of approximately ten percent¹ of their bench-level scientists was selected. The chosen scientists had either a PhD or MD level of education and were actively engaged in research. They were then asked to provide data on a series of randomly chosen days regarding the identity of firms within and outside of the cluster with which they held *scientific* communication. This sampling continued at a frequency of about once per week for a period of several months.

Research Method

The research method focused on locating firms that were solving technical problems in the biotechnology on a daily basis. There had to be a research agenda involved; that is, research scientists with a PhD had to be actively involved in the company doing scientific research. Using this as a base criterion, firms with research scientists were sought out and asked to participate based on the following criteria.

The Geographic Cluster: The Geographic cluster was defined through the use of postal zones. These were chosen on the basis of the concentration of firms shown in the MIT Sloan School of Management Entrepreneurship Center's data (Figure 1). Some of these postal zones covered part of Cambridge and others were in the City of Boston. They were generally in the vicinity of Harvard University, MIT, Boston University or Harvard Medical School² Organizations located outside of these regions formed the control group.

¹ In companies with fewer than 10 scientists, we sample all of those engaged in bench level research. Cooperation is, of course, voluntary and the overall research plan has been reviewed and approved by the MIT Committee on the Use of Human Experimental Subjects.

² The first two of these institutions are in Cambridge. The latter two are located in Boston.

Biotechnology Companies: An accurate listing of firms with the kind assistance of the Massachusetts Biotechnology Council and the MIT Sloan School of Management's Entrepreneurship Center³ was compiled. This included a database listing of Boston's' biotechnology firms, pharmaceuticals firms, hospitals and universities. Around 90 firms and institutes are located at the core cluster (Boston and Cambridge) while another 100 firms are located in a variety of "suburbs". In order to focus attention onto those firms working on human therapeutic applications of biologically-derived pharmaceuticals, all companies that were in the agricultural, veterinary, and environmental products and services fields from the initial listings were eliminated. In addition, those with a primary focus on diagnostics as opposed to therapeutics were also eliminated. This finalized the list to be a final sample of around 70 firms of which 40 companies agreed to participate in the study. The chosen scientists must have at least a PhD or MD level of education and be actively engaged in research.



Figure 1: Biotech Cluster in Greater Kendall Square Area (source MIT Entrepreneurship Center)

³ In the case of the Entrepreneurship Center, we must acknowledge financial support and the encouragement of its Director, Kenneth Morse, as well. Special thanks go to Shyamala Balekuduru, who designed the Web page and helped in the preparation of the data.

Big Pharmaceutical Firms: A number of 'Big Pharma', or large broadly-based, pharmaceutical firms recently located research operations in the Cambridge/Boston area. The goal of these larger firms undoubtedly is to tap into the scientific communication network that may exist among the smaller, newly-formed firms. Their longer term goal is probably to acquire new technology and products through licensing from or acquisition of the firms owning the intellectual property. The large pharmaceutical firms were also included in their sample, to determine the degree to which they are successful in attaining this goal.

A Control Group

In addition to those firms located within the selected postal codes, scientists in a number of firms (both small and large) located within a 100 Km range of Boston but outside of the experimental region (the selected postal zones) were also selected and asked to participate. These more distant firms formed control a group that allowed comparisons on the basis of geographic proximity or separation.

Universities: There are five large research-based universities located within the selected postal codes. These were included in the study in a somewhat indirect way. Scientists in the universities were not asked to report their communications due to logistics. It would be impossible to try and find a representative sample from the universities. Instead, the firm scientists' communications to the universities were recorded and used as a basis for all analyses.

The Data Collection Web Page: A simple web page used for collecting the basic data of the study. In achieving simplicity and ease of response, a lot of information that might have been useful needed to be sacrificed⁴. The web page was designed to be completed within a maximum of 60 seconds⁵. The respondents were given the opportunity to report scientific communication with any of a total of 190 organizations. The organizations were listed alphabetically under each letter of the alphabet. The participant would select the letter the organization started with to limit the list of companies that appeared in a side window on the page. The organization could then be easily located and once all the organizations were selected, the participant would simply select 'submit'. The data was then assembled in a data base file and were available for analysis.

⁴ Achieving a simple, high response potential questionnaire is similar to achieving an uncluttered home or office. Much of what "might be useful in the future" must be eliminated

⁵ Experience shows that the tradeoff between questionnaire length or complexity and response rate follows a very steep downward slope.

The Results from the Previous Work

The previous work focused on data collection and analysis at the company level. The analysis aimed to visualize the network, to analyze the key players of the network and whether distance (in or out of the cluster) played a role in the communication patterns.

The Network Visualization: With the use of social networking tool, Condor⁶ the evolution of interaction patterns within the Biotech Cluster was analyzed. Furthermore, it helped visualize the environment for the visual identification and analysis of the dynamics of communication in social space ⁷ (Gloor, 2006). From the visualization of the interactions and connections, a 'super cluster' was identified. This super cluster represented those firms who were tightly integrated in the network (Figure 2).



Figure 2: The Super Cluster within the Biotech Cluster. The length of connecting 'edges' between nodes (firms) is inversely proportional to the amount of scientific communication reported between those firms.

⁶ Formerly known as "TeCFlow",

⁷ The framework is based on a multi-year research project on Collaborative Knowledge Networks by a global group of universities under the leadership of the MIT Center for Coordination Science and the Center for Digital Strategies at Tuck at Dartmouth (see http://www.ickn.org/ickndemo/).

By further analyzing the super cluster, it was noted that the four of the five Boston Universities (MIT, Harvard, Boston University, TUFTS, and Northeastern University), all the Big Pharmaceuticals and the Biotechnology firms were present in this network (Figure 3). This was, in particular, a significant result indicative of the importance of universities in cluster as well as possible precursors to innovation.



Figure 3: A Closer View of the Super Cluster and its Key Players

It was this analysis and visualization that motivated this study to further understand the importance and role of Universities in the Boston Biotech Cluster.

The Communication Network and Distance: Previous work also analyzed distance as a function of the communication network. The mean distance of a firm in relation to the network was calculated as follows. First, the distance between each firm was calculated using the great circle distance formula:

$$d = r \times \cos^{-1}[\sin Lat1 \times \sin Lat2 + \cos Lat1 \times \cos(Lon2 - Lon1)]$$

Where:

d= distance	Lat2 =Latitude of location 2
r= radius of the earth	Long1=Longitude of location 1
Lat1 =Latitude of location 1	Long2=Longitude of location 2

Once the distance of each firm to all of the othesr was determined, a mean distance was calculated by averaging all the distances together. Using the final mean distance, a scatter plot was created of the mean distances against the number of communications with All of the other organizations. The distances and radius units were in miles. Finally, the key players and their positions within the graph were highlighted. This resulted in the following figure (Figure 4):



Figure 4: Distance as a function of Communication of firms

Conclusion and Limitations of Previous Study: The previous work made great strides in understanding the current network infrastructure of the Boston-Cambridge Biotech Cluster. It was able to gather the communication data to highlight and visualize where and who the key players within the cluster were. The universities were seen to be the organizations most communicated to while the big pharmaceuticals and big biotechnology firms also play a key role. It provided the motivation for this study to delve deeper into the role of universities.

However, there were a few limitations on the previous study. The main limitation in the conclusions drawn from the previous study drew from the unit of analysis. The study focused on communication per company. While this is one method of analysis, it does not take into account that each company had a different number of research scientists participating in the study.

Also, distance is a very subjective matter. While the previous study used a very solid method to quantify and calculate an average distance, it still remains difficult to try and form a correlation with the average distance. The reason is that where the communication took place was not and could not be captured. As such, it is quite possible the technical communication took place at a conference in a completely different city. Therefore, the distance calculated and correlated may in fact have little to do with the actual rate of communication. Hence, it is difficult to draw any significant conclusion using this methodology of distance against the number of communication.

Finally, the previous study still managed to draw certain conclusions. Yet it was unable to quantify the correlation or regress to hold other factors constant.

This study analysis the data using the scientist-per-communication as a unit of analysis, uses degree of centrality and further runs regression and correlation analysis to quantify the relationships.

Chapter 3: Our Study:

Nelson, Saxenian and Fleming have all noted the importance and roles of universities in helping clusters to develop and grow successfully. The visualization produced by the Condor software also highlighted how integrated the universities are in the Boston-Cambridge Biotech Cluster. This was particularly significant as there was only communication data 'to' the universities. Universities, themselves, were not sampled. That is, communication initiating out of universities into the biotech cluster was not recorded. Therefore, it is possible that a lot more communication from universities to or from biotech firms who were not participants in the study was not captured. Despite that, universities emerged with the highest counts of communications – MIT and Harvard were competing closely for the number one spot.

Given these indicators, this study took off from where the previous study stopped in regards to the roles of Universities as well as expanded the analysis scope. This study zeroed-in on the communication patterns of firms to the universities and correlated it with factors such as organizational size, degrees of centrality, type of firm and organizational age. The significance level for the mean distance was also analyzed. Finally, OLS regression analysis was used to analyze the effect of being in the cluster.

The Data

As the previous study recorded communication data from the firm to firm, we focused primarily on the participant firms. Only participant firms would be communicating to the universities. Hence, it would not make sense to include firms that were not participants as the data of them communicating or not communicating with the universities would remain unknown. It would be impossible to ascertain whether any communication resulted, as such, the data results would then not be accurate.

As such, in total, our study then focused on the 30 participant firms which included over 3500 communication data points. The five Boston Universities that were studied are: MIT, Harvard, Boston University, TUFTS and Northeastern University.

Analysis Method:

First, a general set of analysis was conducted using predictors such as communication per scientist, organizational age, organizational size, degrees of centrality and the mean distance. Descriptive statistics were taken and correlations calculated. For the OLS regression models, the dependent variable in our study was the communication per scientist in each firm. The independent variables were the organizational age, organizational size, degrees of centrality and the mean distance. We modeled the effect of being in the cluster on the communication.

Communication Per Scientist: For all our calculations, the unit of analysis will be communications per scientist per firm. That is, the total number of communications from the firm was divided the total number of research scientists who participated in the study.

Organizational Size: The organizational size of each of the firms was calculated using the current number of employees employed by the firm. This information, if not already available on their website, was obtained by contacting the firm itself. Kindly note the discussion regarding the subjectivity of the organizational size in the discussions section.

Organizational Age: The organizational age was calculated using their founding year or year of establishment for that particular branch in the Boston-Cambridge region. This information, for the most part, was readily available on all the firms' websites.

Degrees of Centrality: The degree of centrality was calculated according to the number of links incident upon the node. The node in our graph was the firm itself and the links translated to at least one communication link originating out of the node to another node. Hence, it was the number of unique firms each firm communicated to.

Hypotheses:

The study was directed at understanding the role of universities and what were the predictors for influencing the rate of communication for each scientist in the biotech cluster. The hypotheses were formulated as follows:

- H1: Firms inside the cluster will communicate more to the universities in comparison to the firms outside the cluster.
- H2: Younger firms will communicate more to universities in comparison to older firms.
- H3: Smaller firms communicate more to universities in comparison to larger sized firms.
- H4: Firms with greater degrees of centrality communicate more to the universities.

Discussion: The previous study showed firms inside the cluster communicated more than the firms outside the cluster. And given that universities were the top organizations that firms communicated with, it can be reasonable to expect that within the cluster, universities continue to be the top firms communicated with.

Regarding the younger firms hypothesis, the basis of the hypothesis arises from the notion that younger firms are spin-offs from universities. They are usually founded by professors or recent graduates from the universities and therefore, still maintain ties to the universities and the network there. Thus, the hypothesis assumes as a result, the younger firms will communicate more. situation predicament as the younger firms and, therefore, will communicate more with universities. Finally, a firm that is well embedded in a network and therefore, has a higher degree of centrality will also include universities as part of their network and be communicating more with them as well.

Results:

As mentioned previously, the universities came out as the most communicated to by the biotech firms in the Boston-Cambridge Biotech Cluster. Not only did the universities receive the highest number of communications but they also had the highest number of unique firms contact them (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Number of Connections to Other Organizations by Type of Organization

Using the degree of centrality of each node within the network (reference) as a metric for breadth of communication, we can compare the two groups (Figure 6). Doing so reveals a significant difference in their centrality or embeddedness in the network. Those organizations within the geographically defined cluster region have nearly twice as many connections with other organizations (Figure 6). Since centrality indicates the number of other firms with which a given firm may be in contact but not the amount of contact, we also compare the experimental and control firms on the basis of the amount of communication reported (Figure 7). Here we find that scientists in firms that are within the geographic bounds of the cluster reported that along with distributing communication across a larger number of firms, they also simply communicated more. Physical propinquity within a cluster may or may not be the cause of greater communication but it certainly correlates very strongly with the amount of interorganizational scientific communication and assuredly makes it easier to attain greater levels of communication.



Figure 6 Mean Centrality of Organizations in the Experimental and Control Groups.



Figure 7 Mean Level of Communication

As our study focuses on the role of universities in particular, the next sections break down the communications to the universities per scientist. We do not distinguish or break down within the group of universities. This helps remove the innate biases that might exist within the universities (e.g. rankings, research objectives, etc). As such, the next part takes each hypothesis and reports the results.

H1. Firms inside the cluster will communicate more to the universities in comparison to the firms outside the cluster.

In order to analyze and form a conclusion to this hypothesis, the firm was seen to be a representative of the number of scientists within it. As some firms had more scientists, the unit of analysis representing firms became communication per scientist. As such, the data were split into three groups: communication per scientist to all the firms, communication per scientist to universities only and communication per scientist to non-university firms only. Next, it was further categorized into whether the communication arose from within or without the cluster. One-way anova was run to test and compare the means to see if there was any significance in the differences between the means. Bar graphs also provided visualization for comparison of the means.

A first look (Table 1) shows scientists communicated at an average of 1.4 communications every six months to Universities if they were inside the cluster. Surprisingly, scientists outside the cluster tended to communicate more to universities at the rate of 1.7 communications every six months. This compares to them communicating to all bio-tech firms at the very least 2.7 communications every six months and in an essence, communicating once to non-universities in the six month period. This corresponded to scientists inside the cluster communication more to non-universities at the rate of 1.5 every six months. Thereby, their overall communication rate was found to be nearly 3 times to all bio-tech firms within the cluster tended to communicate more than their outside counterparts, firms outside the cluster communicated more to universities than the firms inside the cluster.

Descriptive Statistics						
		N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	
Communication per Scientist to	Inside Cluster	17	1.3519	1.96425	.47640	
universities	Outside Cluster	13	1.6818	2.41459	.66969	
	Total	30	1.4949	2.13749	.39025	
Communication per Scientist to	Inside Cluster	17	2.8580	3.27967	.79544	
all organizations	Outside Cluster	13	2.7443	3.32909	.92332	
	Total	30	2.8088	3.24403	.59228	
Communication per Scientist to	Inside Cluster	17	1.5080	1.47095	.35676	
non-universities	Outside Cluster	13	1.0625	1.27630	.35398	
	Total	30	1.3149	1.38500	.25286	

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics for Communications inside and outside the Cluster

However, when noting whether the differences were statistically significant, many different statistical methods were explored to compare the significance of means between each group in each category. Finally, One-way Anova test was used to compare the significance of means between each group (inside/outside the cluster) in each category.

Table 2 displays the results from the One-way Anova test of comparing the significance in the means. It was noted the communication rates per scientists within the three categories were not statistically significant. That is, the effect of being in or outside of a cluster did not vary significantly between the three groups.

In conclusion, there is no statistically significant difference of communication to universities within or outside the cluster. Geographic location was not seen to be an influencing factor for firms.

One way ANOVA						
		Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Comm per Scientist to	Between Groups	.802	1	.802	.170	.683
universities	Within Groups	131.695	28	4.703		
	Total	132.497	29			
Comm per Scientist to all	Between Groups	.095	1	.095	.009	.926
companies	Within Groups	305.094	28	10.896		
	Total	305.189	29			
Comm per Scientist to non-	Between Groups	1.462	1	1.462	.756	.392
universities	Within Groups	54.167	28	1.935		
	Total	55.628	29			

Table 2: Anova Test for comparison of the Means

H2: Younger firms will communicate more to universities in comparison to older firms.

The analysis for this hypothesis focused on correlating the communication per scientist to universities data set against the age of each firm. The correlation coefficient was calculated to test the strength and direction of the relationship. In particular, the Pearson product-moment correlation coefficient, a standard method to quantify correlations, was calculated. This was then tested for significance.

Plotting of the firms' age against the communication per scientist to universities (Figure 8) shows that as the firm's age increases, the number of communication decreases. The high communicators to universities were the younger firms. Younger firms averaged between 7 to 9 communications in the six months as compared to the older firms who averaged less than 4 communications to the universities.



Figure 8: Communication per Scientist to Universities as a Function of Organizational Age

Using the Pearson Correlation 1-Tailed Test, Table 3 shows significant correlation of age increasing to communication decreasing with the correlation coefficient at -.34. The correlation is significant at the 0.05 level.

Table 3: Correlations Matrix of Age against Communications per Scientists to Universities

Correlations of Age against Communications per Scientists to Universities				
Age				
Communications per Scientists to Universities	Pearson Correlation	34*		
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.03		
	N	30		

*.Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed)

Therefore, the younger firms do communicate more to universities than the older firms. Interestingly, the same pattern exists for the firms and their communication to non-universities. The Pearson Correlation (

Table 4) for this is signification at the 0.01 level – indicative of a highly correlated function. From this, it is noted that younger firms communicate more than their older counterparts - irrespective of whether the communication is to a university or a non-academic institution.



Figure 9: Age as a function of communication per scientist to non-universities

Correlations of Age against Communications per Scientists to all non-Universities				
		Age		
Communications per Scientists to non- Universities	Pearson Correlation	44*		
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.01		
	N	30		

Table 4 Correlation matrix of Age as a function of Communication per Scientist to all non-universities.

*.Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed)

As such, while our hypothesis focused on firms communication to universities and any correlation with ages and was found to be significantly true, we found that all younger firms communicated more than their older counterparts.

H3: Smaller firms communicate more to universities in comparison to larger sized firms.

The metric size proved to be an interesting one. Size was quantified according to the number of employees a company had. While some companies were able to provide the exact number of employees, the larger companies/institutions reported a simple metric stating they had more than 1000 employees. As such, equal-sized categories were created where firms were placed into their respective categories.

As such, the categories became:

Size 1: Between 1 to 20 employees

Size 2: Between 20 to 50 employees

- Size 3: Between 50 to 100 employees
- Size 4: Between 100 to 500 employees

Size 5: 500+ employees

There was an equal number of firms in each category. This produced interesting results. It was noted that small to medium sized companies; that is, companies of sizes 1 and 2 were the highest communicators in all three categories (Figure 10).



To find out the exact correlations, the Spearman Correlation tests were run (Table 6). Size remained significant at the 0.05 level for both communications per scientist to all organizations and communication to scientists to universities. It became significant at the 0.10 level for communications per scientist to non-universities.

Table 5:	Spearman	Correlation	of Size as a	function of	Communication	per Scientist
rubie of	opeanian					

Correlations of Size against Communications per Scientists				
		Size		
	Pearson Correlation	32*		
Communications per Scientists to	Sig. (1-tailed)	.04		
Universities	N	30		
Communications per Scientists to non- Universities	Pearson Correlation	23		
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.10		
	N	30		
Communications per Scientists to all	Pearson Correlation	31*		
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.05		
organizations	N	30		

*.Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed)

Therefore, our hypothesis that smaller sized companies communicate more than larger companies holds true.

H4: Firms with greater degrees of centrality communicate more to the universities Plotting the degree of centrality against the communication per scientists to universities, there seemed to be an indication of firms on either end of the spectrum did not communicate as much as the firms who maintained a reasonable amount of centrality (Figure 11)

To find out how much, if any, correlation there is between communications per scientist to the Degree of Centrality of a firm, the Spearman's Correlation tests were run (Table 6). It was noted there were significant correlations of Degree of Centrality to Communication per Scientist to all companies (a coefficient of .334 with significance at less than 0.05) and to all non-academic institutions (a coefficient of .45 with significance at less than 0.01. University communication became significant at the .10 level.



Figure 11 Degree of Centrality as a function of Communication per Scientist to Universities

Table 6 Spearman's Correlation of Degree of Centrality as a function of Communication per Scientist

Correlations of Degree of Centrality against Communications per Scientists				
		Degree of Centrality		
	Pearson Correlation	24		
Communications per Scientists to	Sig. (1-tailed)	.10		
Universities	N	30		
	Pearson Correlation	46**		
Communications per Scientists to non-	Sig. (1-tailed)	.01		
Universities	N	30		
	Pearson Correlation	33*		
Communications per Scientists to all organizations	Sig. (1-tailed)	.04		
	N	30		

*.Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (1-tailed)

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (1-tailed)

As such, our hypothesis that firms with greater degrees of centrality communicate more to universities than the firms with lesser degrees of centrality shows correlation at only 0.10 level.

Chapter 4: Discussion

In this section, we discuss each of the hypotheses.

• H1: Firms inside the cluster will communicate more to the universities in comparison to the firms outside the cluster.

There were no significant differences between the firms inside and outside the cluster with regard to their communication with the universities. In the similar way, there is no significant difference between the communication to all organizations and to non-academic institutions with regard to their location of being inside and outside the firm.

This may come as a surprise as the expectation would be that firms inside the cluster would communicate more. The metric here is communication per scientist over a period of six months. As noted in the beginning of the results section, the overall number of communications per firm was greater inside the cluster than outside. Furthermore, firms inside the cluster also maintained higher degrees of centrality; that is, the firms inside had a greater number of unique organizations they contacted over the six month period.

So while there may not be a significant difference in the communication per scientist inside or outside the cluster, putting the various metrics in perspective, we note that firms inside the cluster as a whole communicate more to a greater number of unique firms.

• H2: Younger firms will communicate more to universities in comparison to older firms.

Our results indicate a significant correlation of younger firms communicating more to universities than the older firms. The significance level was below 0.05. The correlation coefficient is -0.34.

Younger firms could be communicating to universities more than the older firms for many reasons. First, these younger firms are spin-offs from the universities. They are often founded by recent graduates who established companies based on their research work while at universities and therefore, continue to maintain strong ties to the universities. Professors too establish spin-offs from their research work and this helps them to maintain strong ties to the academic communities.

Another phenomenon that we came across which might explain why younger firms may communicate more is that many of the younger firms have asked professors from the university to be part of their advisory board. We found many of the younger firms in particular who have academic professors as part of their advisory boards. These startups are frequently sold off to larger well-established firms. As such, in either case, the professors are no longer part of the firm and therefore, this academic tie is broken and communication drops.

Finally, the older firms are also well established firms who maintain ties to the universities for a variety of reasons. They wish to recruit graduates, fund research and benefit from capitalizing published research. These ties do not qualify as scientific research as the topic of communication is not scientific in nature. As such, there may be a greater emphasis on the industrial links and communication that have little to do with technical research.

• H3: Smaller firms communicate more to universities in comparison to larger sized firms.

As stated previously, the metric used for size is the number of employees in each firm. Before discussing the results, using the number of employees as a metric has many caveats. The number of employees is not necessarily indicative of research capabilities or research objectives of a company. This is because the number of employees often includes the staff that helps with the overall operation of the company but little to do with its technical research or problem solving. A more accurate method to ascertain the size of a company, for the future, would be to use the number of scientists to represent the size of the company. However, this number is not always available and difficult to obtain⁸. Furthermore, the number of employees, irrespective of their role or position in the company, is a standard metric used to study many different effects, etc.

Consequently,, we chose to use the number of employees to represent firm size. Our results noted a significant correlation of size as a factor influencing the communication of firms. Significance was at the 0.05 level with the correlation coefficient -0.32. We noted smaller sized firms, in particularly firms with 20 to 50 employees communicated the most to both universities and non-academic firms.

While there may be many reasons for this as well, it is important to discuss whether or not too much communication for a smaller company is actually beneficial. Intuitively, the more the firm communicates may seem to be a good thing. However, smaller sized firms also mean that there are fewer employees trying to accomplish the same scientific work as their neighboring larger firms. The more time the employee spends communicating equates to that much less time spent on product development and research application. Both are vital to a firm's growth and survival.

⁸ Companies often regard this statistic as proprietary.

Consequently, while it is important to maintain communication to universities and other firms, smallersized firms in particular need to be careful and balance the activities of communicating and producing.

• H4: Firms with greater degrees of centrality communicate more to the universities.

The degrees of centrality equate to the number of unique firms the firm contacted or communicated within the time frame. It shows how well embedded a firm is in the network. It is also interpreted in terms of the immediate risk for a node of catching whatever is flowing through the network (such as a virus, or some information). In our case, this is the risk of catching innovation/research that flows through the network. As such, by definition, the greater the centrality, the more innovation/research the firm is in a position to capture. In many ways, this may be a more important than the number of times the firms communicated.

Our results indicated that firms inside the cluster experience a greater degree of centrality – they have a greater set of unique firms who they contacted during the six month period. Degree of centrality was also directly correlated with the amount of a firm's communication. There was significance at 0.10 level for communication to universities with the correlation coefficient being 0.24.

We noted that firms at either end of the spectrum – that is, firms with too high or low degree of centrality – communicated less to universities. It was the firms that were in the middle who communicated the most to the universities.

It is understandable why firms with higher degrees of centrality may not be communicating more with universities. Their communication time is limited and split between their many contacts. The firms who have very low degrees of centrality can also be expected to communicate less to universities. They may not have enough contacts to include universities as part of their network and therefore, may be missing out on vital information being passed through the network.

The firms who are in the middle communicate the most to universities. These firms have maintained a modestly-sized network but universities play a central role in their technical communication and problem solving. They are possibly heavily reliant on university resources as their networks are not large enough to be able to tap into other resources to solve technical or research problems.

Chapter 5: Conclusion

In this study, we focused on the relationship of the firm and universities that are within a cluster. We looked at their location in terms of being inside or outside of the geographic area of the cluster, their age, size and their degree of centrality as the independent variables with communication per scientist as the dependent variable. We found the firm's location inside or outside the geographic cluster was not an influencing factor while age, size and degree of centrality were directly correlated with the firms' communication per scientist in the six month period. While we presented many reasons for these results, further research and studies need to be conducted to understand the reasons behind the various results. Finally, it would be interesting to revisit the firms to understand who within the universities the firms contacted – whether it was students, professors or post-docs. And to follow up with whether any publications resulted from the initial communications and the length of time before the communication resulted in a publication.

References

Aharonson, B.S., Baum, J.A.C., & Feldman, M.P. (2004). "Industrial clustering and the returns to inventive activity: Canadian biotechnology firms, 1991-2000." *Danish Research Unit for Industrial Dynamics Working Paper No 04-03*.

Ahuja, Gautam (2000). "Collaboration Networks, Structural Holes, and Innovation: A Longitudinal Study" Administrative Science Quarterly 45(3):425-455.

Aldrich, H.E. & Auster, E.R. (1986). "Even dwarfs started small: Liabilities of size and age and their strategic implications." In B.M. Staw and L.L. Cummings (eds.), *Research in Organizational Behavior* 8: 165-198. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press.

Allen, T. & Cohen, S. (1969). "Information flow in research and development laboratories." Administrative Science Quarterly 14:12-20.

Allen, T. (1966). *Managing the flow of scientific and technological information*. Cambridge, MA, Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

Allen, Thomas J. 1971. Communication Networks in R&D Laboratories, R&D Management, 114-121, reprinted in Katz, Ralph (ed.) 2004. *The Human Side of Managing Technological Innovation*. Oxford University Press.

Audretsch, D.B. & Feldman, M.P. (1996). "R&D spillovers and the geography of innovation and production." *American Economic Review* 86: 630-640.

Baptista, R. (1998). "Clusters, innovation and growth: A survey of the literature." In G.M.P. Swann, M. Prevezer and D. Stout (eds.), Dynamics of Industrial Clusters: International Comparisons in Computing and Biotechnology: 13-51. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Baptista, R. and Swann P. 1998. "Do firms in clusters innovate more?" Research Policy 27: 525-40.

Baptista, R. and Swann P. 1999. "The dynamics of firm growth and entry in industrial cluster: A comparison of the US and UK computer industries." Journal of Evolutionary Economics 9: 73-399.

Baum, Joel, Calabrese, Tony, Silverman, Brian S. (2000) "Don't go it alone: Alliance Network Composition and Startups' Performance in Canadian Biotechnology. *Strategic Management Journal* 21:267-294.

Beaudry, C., and Breschi, S.(2003). "Are firms in clusters really more innovative?" *Economics of Innovation and New Technology* 12: 325-342.

Blumenthal, D., et al (1997) "Academic-industry research relationships in genetics: A field apart." *Nature Genetics* 16(1):104-108.

DeCarolis, D.M. & D.L. Deeds (1999) "The impact of stocks and flows of organizational knowledge on firm performance: An empirical investigation of the biotechnology industry." *Strategic Management Journal* 20(10): 953-968.

Edwards M., Murray F., Yu R. (2003). "Value creation and sharing among universities, biotechnology and pharma". *Nature Biotechnology* 21:618 – 624.

Feldman, M.P.(2000). "Location and innovation: The new economic geography of innovation, spillovers, and agglomeration." In G. Clark, M. Feldman and M. Gertler (eds.), Oxford Handbook of Economic Geography, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Freeman, Linton C., (1979). Centrality in Social Networks Conceptual Clarification. *Social Networks*. 1 215-239.

Furman, J.L., M.K. Kyle, I. Cockburn, and R. Henderson. 2004. "Public and Private Spillovers, Location, and the Productivity of Pharmaceutical Research." Mimeo. Duke University. http://www.duke.edu/~mkyle/Spillovers%20Location%20Productivity%20-%20Sept-04.pdf

Gloor, Peter (2006). Swarm Creativity – Competitive Advantage Through Collaborative Innovation Networks. Oxford University Press.

Higgins, M.C. and R. Gulati (2003). "Getting Off to a Good Start: The Effects of Upper Echelon Affiliations on Underwriter Prestige." Organization Science 14(3): 244-263.

Jaffe, A.B. 1989. "Real Effects of Academic Research." American Economic Review 79, pp. 957-970.

Jaffe, Adam B & Trajtenberg, Manuel & Henderson, Rebecca, 1993. "Geographic Localization of Knowledge Spillovers as Evidenced by Patent Citations," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, MIT Press, vol. 108(3), pages 577-98

SDM Thesis – Nada Hashmi

Liebeskind, J.P., A.L. Oliver, et al. (1996). "Social networks, learning, and flexibility: Sourcing scientific knowledge in new biotechnology firms." *Organization Science* 7(4): 428-443.

Moses, H. and J.B.Martin (2001). "Academic Relationships With Industry—A New Model for Biomedical Research." JAMA 285(7): 933-0935.

Murray, F. (2002). "Innovation as Co-evolution of Scientific and Technological Networks:Exploring Tissue Engineering." *Resrech Policy* 31(8-9):1389-1403.

Murray, F. 2004."The role of academic inventors in entrepreneurial firms: Saring the Labratory Life." *Research Policy* 33(4):643-659.

Murray, F., and S. Stern. (2004). "Do Formal Intellectual Property Rights Hinder the Free Flow of Scientific Knowledge? An Empirical Test of the Anti-Commons Hypothesis." Mimeo. MIT Sloan School. http://web.mit.edu/ewzucker/www/econsoc/Murray.pdf

Oliver, A. L. and J.P. Liebeskind (1997). "Three levels of networking for sourcing intellectual capital in biotechnology: Implications for studying interorganizational networks." *International Studies of Management & Organization* 27(4): 76-103.

Porter, K., Bunker, k., Powell, W. (2005). The Institutional Embeddedness of High-Tech Regions in *Clusters, Networks, and Innovation*. Oxford University Press

Powell, W. and P. Brantley (1992). Competitive Cooperation in biotechnology: learning through networks? <u>Networks and Organizations</u>. N. Nohria and R. Eccles: 366-394.

Powell, W.W. (1998) "Learning From Collaboration: Knowledge and Networks in the Biotechnology and Pharmaceutical Industries" *California Management Review* 40(3): 228-240.

Powell, W.W., K.W. Koput, et al. (1996). "Interorganizational collaboration and the locus of innovation: Networks of learning in biotechnology." *Administrative Science Quarterly* 41(1): 116-145.

Rosenkopf, L. and P. Almeida. "Overcoming Local Search Through Alliances and Mobility." 2003. *Management Science*, 49:751-766.

Sapienza, A. (1996). "Knowledge Frontiers: Public Sector Research and Industrial Innovation in Biotechnology, Engineering Ceramics, and Parallel Computing." *R&D Management* 26(1): 93-94.

Shan, W., G. Walker, et al. (1994). "Interfirm cooperation and startup innovation in the biotechnology industry." *Strategic Management Journal* 15(5): 387-394.

Wallsten, S.J. 2001). "An empirical test of geographic knowledge spillovers using geographic information systems and firm-level data." *Regional Science and Urban Economics* 31:571-599.

Zucker, L., M. Darby, and M. Brewer. (1998). "Intellectual Human Capital and the Birth of U.S. Biotechnology Enterprises." *American Economic Review* 88(1) pp. 290-306.

Zucker, L.G., M.R. Darby, and J.S. Armstrong. (2002). "Commercializing Knowledge: University Science, Knowledge Capture, and Firm Performance in Biotechnology." *Management Science*_48(1): 138-153.

Zucker, L.G., M.R. Darby, et al. (1998). "Geographically localized knowledge: Spillovers or markets?" *Economic Inquiry* 36(1): 65-86.

Towards "meta-innovation" in Brazil: The evolution of the incubator and the emergence of a triple helix Research Policy, Volume 34, Issue 4, May 2005, Pages 411-424 Henry Etzkowitz, José Manoel Carvalho de Mello, Mariza Almeida

B. T. McCann and T. B. Folta (2008) Location Matters: Where We Have Been and Where We Might Go in Agglomeration Research Journal of Management, June 1, 2008; 34(3): 532 - 565.

A. Pe'er, I. Vertinsky, and A. King (2008) Who enters, where and why? The influence of capabilities and initial resource endowments on the location choices of de novo enterprises Strategic Organization, May 1, 2008; 6(2): 119 - 149.

J. Schoales (2006) Alpha Clusters: Creative Innovation in Local Economies Economic Development Quarterly, May 1, 2006; 20(2): 162 - 177.

S.-E. Jakobsen and K. Onsager(2005) Head Office Location: Agglomeration, Clusters or Flow Nodes? Urban Stud, August 1, 2005; 42(9): 1517 - 1535.

Ornit Raz, Peter A. Gloor Size Really Matters—New Insights for Start-ups' SurvivalVol. 53, No. 2, February 2007, pp. 169–177